FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/16/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 4/16/2024 12:36 PM

CASE NO. 85229-9-I

Case #: 1029721

THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Robert S. Apgood, individually and as Trustee for Robert

S. and Nancy B Apgood Living Trust

v.

Roger A. Plautz and Linda Plautz, James S. Glenn and

Jane Doe Glenn, and Legacy Home Inspections LLC

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioner

Spencer D. Freeman Freeman Law Firm, Inc. 1107 ¹⁄₂ Tacoma Avenue South Tacoma, WA 98402

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Robert S. Apgood, individually and as Trustee for Robert S. Apgood and Nancy B. Apgood Living Trust ("Apgood"), the Appellant in *Apgood v. Plautz, et al.*, Court of Appeals Div. I Case Number 85229-9 I, and the Plaintiff in *Apgood v. Plautz, et al.*, Snohomish County Superior Court Case No. 21-2-05991-31.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision requested for review is *Apgood v. Plautz, et al.*, Court of Appeals Div. I Case Number 85229-9 I, filed on March 18, 2024. Specifically, Apgood seeks review of the Court of Appeals Division I decision to affirm dismissal of Apgood's claims against Plautz. Apgood does not seek review of the decision affirming dismissal of claims against Glenn or Legacy.

The effect of this Court of Appeals decision is to effectively legalize and/or sanction fraud by sellers in residential real estate transactions.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the Court of Appeals decision in applying the equitable doctrine of waiver as a bar to Apgood's claim for fraudulent inducement of a real estate contract contradicts decisions of the Supreme Court expressly ruling that the doctrine should not perpetrate fraud.

2. Whether the Court of Appeals decision barring reliance upon RCW 64.06.020 disclosures is in direct conflict with other Courts of Appeals published decisions affirming reliance upon the same disclosures.

3. Whether the Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest when application of the doctrine of waiver would render RCW 64.06.020 disclosures meaningless whenever buyer inspections are waived and such waivers are more common place with private equity firms entering the market.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Facts.¹

In January 2018, Robert Apgood, a United States citizen then temporarily located in England, discovered a real estate for sale listing for a residence located at 5829 Silvana Terrace Road, Stanwood, Washington (hereafter "5829 House"). Apgood contacted sellers Roger A. Plautz and Linda Plautz via a Real Estate agent. Located in England, it was impractical for Apgood to fly back to Washington to inspect/review every potential purchase. Houses were selling quickly, and frequently sold before he could physically travel to Washington. As such, he relied heavily on his son and his Real Estate agent to make visual inspections and report their findings. Clerk's Papers (CP) 233-34.

¹ Apgood does not seek discretionary review over the Court of Appeals Division I's ruling regarding Glenn or Legacy Home Inspections. Thus, facts specific to those claims and issues are not included here.

In furtherance and in advance of the sale of the property, Apgood was provided copies of a number of documents related to the 5829 House, including statutorily mandated disclosure Form 17 Seller Disclosure Statement ("Form 17"). To further those mandatory disclosures, Plautz also supplied Apgood with a house inspection report drafted by Glenn and Legacy Home Inspections, LLC. (CP 234, 256-61).

On Form 17, executed on February 25, 2018, Plautz expressly represented and averred that the roof had not leaked in the previous 5 years. The Legacy Inspection Report supported this contention. CP 240.

Based in large part upon the representations in Form 17, Apgood made an offer for the purchase of the 5829 House. Absent these representations, Apgood would not have purchased the home. CP 243. The Purchase and Sale Agreement was dated May 17, 2018. As an addendum to the purchase and sale agreement, Apgood waived obtaining his own building inspection, and stated that he had not relied upon any representations by the seller in waiving the inspection.

This provision is part of the Inspection Addendum to Purchase and Sale Agreement, signed on May 17, 2018 (3 months after Form 17 was signed by Plautz). CP 190, 258. Noticeably absent is a waiver of any RCW 64.06 required disclosures (Form 17)² and the inspection waiver provision ONLY references representations of the seller to enter the addendum, *not the underlying contract previously signed*.

In the Spring of 2021, Apgood discovered the roof to be leaking. Subsequently, Apgood discovered evidence that the roof had been leaking in the 5 years preceding his purchase of the 5829 House and that Plautz knew it was leaking. Thus,

² RCW 64.06 establishes required disclosures by the seller of real property. These disclosures are *only* waived upon an express waiver of the seller disclosure statement. There is no such waiver here, and Plautz in fact provided the seller disclosure statement. Plautz just lied on it.

Plautz made material misrepresentations on Form 17. CP 91-93, 235-37, 253-56, 270-79.

B. Procedural History.

Apgood filed suit against Plautz alleging Fraud in the Inducement of the Purchase and Sale Agreement due to the misrepresentations on Form 17. CP 217-31.

On January 25, 2023, Plautz filed the motion for summary judgment arguing that Apgood's claims are barred by the independent duty doctrine. CP 318.

On March 16, 2023, the Superior Court entered an Order granting Plautz's motion for summary judgment, expressly stating that Apgood's claims against Plautz were barred by the independent duty doctrine.³

³ In its Order, the Superior Court couched the doctrine as the "economic loss rule," however the Washington State Supreme Court has made clear on several occasions that the rule is now referred to as the "independent duty doctrine." *Elcon Constr., Inc. v. E. Wash.Univ.*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 165, 273 P.3d 693 (2012);

Apgood timely appealed. The Court of Appeals did not reach the issue of the whether the independent duty doctrine barred Apgood's claim for Fraud in the Inducement. Rather, the Court of Appeals determined that the doctrine of waiver barred Apgood's claim due to his waiver of inspection.

This petition for discretionary review follows.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) allows for discretionary review to be granted

in four instances:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

Eastwood v. Horse Harbor Found, Inc., 170 Wn.2d 380, 241 P.3d 1256 (2010). It will be referred to herein as the independent duty doctrine.

- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because (a) the decision of the Court of Appeals to apply the doctrine of waiver as a bar to a claim of fraud contradicts longstanding rulings of the Supreme Court regarding equitable principles of the doctrine; (b) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in contradiction with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; and (c) there is a clear issue of substantial public interest which should be determined by the Supreme Court.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals determined Apgood's claim against Plautz for fraudulent inducement of the real estate contract (Plautz lied on Form 17 about roof leaks) was barred by the doctrine of waiver solely due to the waiver of inspection provision as addendum to the purchase and sale agreement.

The Court of Appeals stated Apgood asserted reliance upon Form 17 in the decision to enter into the purchase and sale agreement *and* in the decision to waiver further inspections. The former is true and key to this petition: Apgood relied upon statements of the seller in Form 17 in his determination to enter into an agreement to purchase the house.

However, the latter is not true. Nowhere does Apgood assert or argue reliance upon Form 17 in deciding to waive inspection.⁴ Rather, Apgood asserts the inspection waiver is irrelevant in the analysis because the seller lied on statutorily mandated disclosures, Apgood did not waive the statutory disclosures, and Apgood agreed to waive inspection *after and separate from* his decision to purchase the home.

⁴ It is unclear why or how the Court of Appeals got this wrong.

The Court of Appeals determined that an inspection waiver in an addendum to a real estate purchase agreement waives not only inspection but also *any* reliance on statutorily mandated disclosures (RCW 64.06.020) in a decision to purchase the property.

Further, the Court of Appeals determined that while receipt of the information required by RCW 64.06.020 is mandatory absent an express waiver to not receive, there is no right to rely on this same information regardless that receipt was not expressly waived. According to the Court of Appeals, since Apgood received Form 17, RCW 64.06.020 was satisfied and he had no right to rely on that information.

(Quite curious a party must receive mandatory disclosures but does not have the right to rely upon such disclosures. It raises the question: what is the point of mandatory disclosures if there is no corresponding right to rely upon them?)

The Court of Appeals decision also indicates that the inspection addendum is deemed a part of the contract and the

contract constituted the entire understanding between the parties, and superseded all prior understandings and representations. However, Apgood's fraudulent inducement claim was premised upon intentional misrepresentations in Form 17, which is expressly and unequivocally *not* a part of a real estate contract. RCW 64.06.020(3).

Form 17 is a statutorily separate disclosure statement pursuant to RCW 64.06.020(3). Waiver of the statutory disclosures is valid when such waiver is *expressly* made. RCW 64.06.010(7); RCW 64.06.020(1). Thus, misrepresentations could not have been resolved by the purchase and sale agreement or its addendums.

The effect of the Court of Appeals decision is chilling and contradicts clear prior rulings. In short, the decision means that when there is a waiver of inspection (common enough to be a preprinted boilerplate form) a seller cannot be held accountable for intentional misrepresentations or fraud for lying on Form 17 statutorily mandated disclosures. A seller could simply refuse to

12

sell to someone who did not waive inspection, thus having absolute free reign to lie on Form 17 without a vehicle to be held to account. This threat to Washington byers will only grow as inspection waiver is a growing trend.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Contradicts Decisions by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' decision extends the doctrine of waiver well past where it has previously reached by permitting material intentional misrepresentations (lies) in contract negotiations based upon a waiver provision. There is NO case, either at the Court of Appeals or Supreme Court which bars claims of fraud based upon contractual waiver and/or the doctrine of waiver.

To establish fraud the following must be established: (1) representation of an existing fact; (2) materiality; (3) falsity; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity; (5) intent of the speaker that it should be acted upon by the plaintiff; (6) plaintiff's ignorance of its falsity; (7) plaintiff's reliance on the truth of the representation; (8) plaintiff's right to rely upon it; and (9) damages suffered by the plaintiff. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 505, 925 P.2d 194 (1996).

Buyers of residential real estate have a right to rely upon representations made in Form 17, mandated by RCW 64.06.020. *Jackowski v. Borchelt*, 174 Wn.2d 720, 738, 278 P.3d 1100 (2012).

The Court of Appeals decision here waives this right pursuant to the doctrine of waiver. Such application violates the clearly established tenants of the doctrine of waiver set by the Supreme Court.

Generally, the doctrine of waiver may apply to all rights or privileges to which a person is legally entitled and is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such right. Waiver may result from an express agreement or be inferred from circumstances indicating an intent to waive. The one against whom waiver is claimed must have actual or constructive knowledge of the existence of the right. He must intend to relinquish such right, advantage, or benefit. *Bowman v. Webster*, 44 Wn.2d 667, 669, 269 P.2d 960 (1954).

However, and quite important here, waiver is an equitable doctrine with purpose to facilitate equity and NOT the perpetration of fraud. *Weitzman v. Bergstrom*, 75 Wn.2d 693, 699, 453 P.2d 860 (1969). Specifically, this Court stated:

It should be remembered that waiver is an equitable doctrine. Its purpose is to facilitate the doing of equity, not the perpetration of fraud.

Id.

In *Weitzman*, the seller of a vending machine business misrepresented the profitability of the business during negotiations for the purchase of the business. *Id.* at 694. The parties negotiated a new agreement 14 months later to account for the discovered lower profits. *Id.* at 695. Ultimately, the buyer stopped making payments on the purchase and the seller attempted to foreclose on the loan. *Id.* at 696. In defense to the attempted foreclosure, the buyer asserted the seller's fraud as inducement to the original contract. This Court recognized that normally a party having a claim of fraud will assert the claim in negotiations with the defrauding party in a subsequently negotiated contract which will make concessions due to the fraud and thus waives fraud. *Id.* at 699. However, when the new contract perpetuates the fraud, the doctrine of waiver should not be applied. The doctrine of waiver must be applied to promote justice, not thwart justice. *Id.* at 700.

The Court of Appeals decision here directly conflicts with this Court's clear instruction that the doctrine of waiver must not be applied when it perpetuates a fraud and thus thwarts justice. Plautz committed fraud on the Form 17 Disclosure by intentionally misrepresenting the roof had not leaked in the previous five years.

Application of the doctrine of waiver barring a claim of fraud due to inspection waiver thwarts justice, and perpetuates fraud rather than promoting justice. It is the wrongful application

16

of the equitable doctrine in contradiction with this Court's clear directive. Accordingly, this Court should grant this petition for discretionary review.

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Contradicts Published Decisions by Courts of Appeal.

The Court of Appeals decisions conflicts with a published decision by Court of Appeals Division II.

In *Stieneke v. Russi*, 145 Wn. App. 544, 190 P.3d 60 (2008), the Court of Appeals addressed a fact pattern and legal claim strikingly similar to the instant matter. There, appellants experienced a leaky roof in a home purchased from respondents who misrepresented the status of the roof on disclosures forms (Form 17) signed prior to the closing. *Id.* at 551. On Form 17, the seller stated that the roof had not leaked. The buyers did obtain their own inspection on the property but forewent (waived) a roof inspection based upon the representations of the sellers. *Id.* at 552-54.

The Court of Appeals expressly determined that the buyers had a right to rely upon the statement of the sellers that the roof had not leaked. Specifically, the Court stated:

> Here, Troy Russi made assertions regarding the roof's history. The Stienekes relied on those representations in limiting their roof inspection. Additionally, Cypher's testimony was that a reasonable property examination would not have uncovered what Russi affirmatively misrepresented. This evidence supports the trial court's finding that the defect was not readily apparent from a property inspection, that the a right to rely on those Stienekes had representations, and that their reliance was justifiable under the circumstances.

Id. at 564-65.

In the instant matter, the Court of Appeals' decision means that Apgood had no right to rely on the statements of Plautz regarding the state of the roof. These decisions are in contradiction with each other.

D. There is An Issue of Substantial Public Importance that Should Be Determined By the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision incorrectly applied an equitable doctrine in a manner which perpetrates fraud.

The Court of Appeals decision renders receipt of mandatory disclosures pursuant to RCW 64.06.020 completely meaningless when a buyer waives inspection. While the statute requires express waiver to alleviate the obligation of receipt of the disclosures, the decision states that even without such express waiver a buyer does not have the right to rely upon the content of the disclosures. If one had no right in relying upon the content, there simply is no point in mandating the receipt of the disclosures.

The Court of Appeals decision is an unprecedented ruling, finding fraud to be barred by the doctrine of waiver. Reliance upon *Cox v. O'Brien*, 150 Wn. App. 24, 206 P.3d 682 (2009) is misplaced. There, the Court found negligence misrepresentation claims (which are not fraud) are barred by the doctrine of waiver. Extending this determination to fraud only serves to perpetuate fraud, which has never before been done.

This Court has been historically protective of fraud claims, protecting the victims of fraud in permitting their claims to move forward. In the context of the independent duty doctrine, this Court has expressly stated that the lower courts (trial courts and Courts of Appeal) are NOT permitted to bar fraud claims pursuant to the independent duty doctrine unless the Supreme Court expressly says so. *Eastwood*, 170 Wn.2d at 417. This is clearly to protect the victims of fraud. Such protection is also necessary under the doctrine of waiver.

The Court of Appeals decision threatens to harm the citizens of the State of Washington. As of now, if a buyer waives inspection, the buyer is also waiving any claims of fraud against the seller for any intentional misrepresentations on Form 17 (legislatively mandated disclosures to protect the buyers of residential real estate). Therefore, fraud claims in all property

purchases where inspections are waived are barred. This involves a *huge* public interest.

For the last several years, there has been a growing nationwide trend for purchasers of residential real estate to waive inspections.⁵ Now, a Washington Court of Appeal has ruled that fraud claims are not available to buyers who have waived inspection. This unknown and unanticipated bar of fraud claims affects a growing number of home buyers in the State of Washington.

This trend is being furthered by private equity firms. Private equity firms have become increasingly involved in the purchase of residential homes. In fact, in 2023, 44% of all singlefamily homes in the country were purchased by private equity firms.⁶ Private equity firms can dominate the market by making

 ⁵ https://www.wsj.com/articles/buying-a-first-home-costs-morethan-you-think-especially-now-11643970604
 ⁶ https://medium.com/@chrisjeffrieshomelessromantic/report-44-of-all-single-family-home-purchases-were-by-privateequity-firms-in-2023-0c0ff591a701 cash offers with waiver of inspections. Private citizens can only compete with the equity firms if they also waive inspections.

A private equity firm is much more likely able to endure costs of repair for issues undetected due to no inspection and which the seller misrepresented on requisite disclosures. If fraud claims are barred upon waiver of inspection, the individual consumer is placed at a distinct and unfair disadvantage to the private equity firms. The Court of Appeals decision actually furthers the private equity firm takeover of the residential real estate market, something that should scare us all.

With an increasing number of home buyers waiving inspection, the buyers should be protected against fraud. The Court of Appeals ruling here leaves buyers exposed and unprotected. It is of significant public interest.

VI. CONCLUSION

Lying on statutory mandatory disclosures in a residential real estate transaction is fraud. Period. For the first time ever, the Court of Appeals has determined that the doctrine of waiver bars a fraud claim. This cannot be and is in direct contradiction with the Supreme Court's clear statement that equitable doctrines should not be used to perpetrate fraud. Even where inspections have been waived and property is accepted as is, buyers should be able to rely upon the integrity of required disclosures. Sellers should not be permitted a pass on accountability for their lies just because a buyer has waived inspection without expressly waiving mandatory disclosures.

This unprecedented extension of the doctrine of waiver threatens all home buyers in the State of Washington and contradicts clear Washington Supreme Court precedent in protecting the victims of fraud.

For these reasons, it is respectfully requested that the Court grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision. I certify that this brief is in 14-point Times New Roman font and contains 3,236 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(a), (b) and (c).