FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/26/2024 9:57 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 1029721

IN THESUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT S. APGOOD, individually and as Trustee for the ROBERT S. AND NANCY B. APGOOD LIVING TRUST,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROGER A. PLAUTZ AND LINDA S. PLAUTZ, individually and the marital community composed thereof; JAMES S. GLENN AND JANE DOE GLENN, individually and the marital community composed thereof; and LEGACY HOME INSPECTIONS LLC, a Washington Limited Liability Company,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Anna G. Alexander, Judge Honorable Millie M. Judge, Judge

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff bought a house from Mr. and Mrs. Plautz. In the Purchase and Sale Agreement, plaintiff selected a "Waiver of Inspection" option which expressly provided: "Buyer has not relied on representations by Seller." But plaintiff sued Mr. and Mrs. Plautz anyway, asserting liability based on alleged misrepresentations. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's ruling that plaintiff waived the right to do so.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS.

1. Seller Disclosure Statement.

On February 25, 2018, Mr. and Mrs. Plautz signed a Form 17 Seller Disclosure Statement. The statement stated: "Seller makes the following disclosures of existing material facts or material defects to buyer based on seller's actual knowledge of the property at the time seller completes this disclosure statement." It further provided: "This information is for disclosure only and is not intended to be a part of any written agreement between buyer and seller." CP 186.

The sellers checked a box indicating that the roof had not leaked within the last 5 years. CP 188. Mr. Plautz testified that this representation was correct. The Plautzes were not aware of any leaks in the previous 5 years. CP 163, 165.

Mr. and Mrs. Plautz signed the disclosure, indicating that the answers were "compete and correct to the best of Seller's knowledge." CP 190.

2. Purchase and Sale Agreement.

On March 14, 2018, Mr. and Mrs. Plautz listed the property for sale. On May 17, 2018, they accepted an offer from plaintiff Robert Apgood. CP 165. The sale closed on July 2, 2018. CP 166.

On May 17, 2018, the parties to the sale executed the Purchase and Sale Agreement, including an "Inspection Addendum to Purchase and Sale Agreement." CP 166. The addendum provided that it was "part of the Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 17, 2018." CP 191. The parties initialed the addendum on May 17, 2018. CP 191. The addendum included four options which could be selected. CP 191-92.

Plaintiff selected and initialed option 4, which provided:

WAIVER OF INSPECTION. Buyer has been advised to obtain a building, hazardous substances, building and zoning code, pest or soils/stability inspection, and to condition the closing of this Agreement on the results of such inspections, but Buyer elects to waive the right and buy the Property in its present condition. Buyer acknowledges that the decision to waive Buyer's inspection options was based on Buyer's personal inspection and **Buyer has not relied on representations by Seller, Listing Broker or Selling Broker**.

CP 192 (emphasis added).

By plaintiff's own admission, this Waiver of Inspection was made in the context of a hot housing market where "[h]ouses were selling quickly, and frequently sold before he could physically travel to Washington." CP 96. Plaintiff chose to rely on his son and a real estate agent to inspect properties and look for potential problems. CP 115. Therefore, it appears plaintiff agreed to accept the risk that he might find damage or defects in the property in order to ensure he was the successful buyer.

The Purchase and Sale Agreement provided that "if Buyer or Seller institutes suit against the other concerning this Agreement the prevailing party is entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses." CP 297.

The Agreement contained the following integration clause:

This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding between the parties and **supersedes all prior or contemporaneous understandings and representations**. No modification of the Agreement shall be effective unless agreed in writing and signed by Buyer and Seller....

Id. (emphasis added).

B. STATEMENT OF PROCEDURE.

On March 16, 2023, the trial court entered an order granting the motion of Mr. and Mrs. Plautz for summary judgment. The court ruled: "Plaintiff Apgood knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to inspect the property and his claims are barred by the Economic Loss Rule. . . ." CP 41-42.

On March 18, 2024, the Court of Appeals, Division I,

affirmed the trial court's ruling in an unpublished opinion. The

court held:

Apgood . . . expressly agreed that he "ha[d] not relied on representations by Seller, Listing Broker or Selling Broker" in deciding to waive his inspection options. And Apgood further agreed that his agreement with the Plautzes, captured in the PSA and addendum, "supersedes all prior . . . representations." Apgood's decision to intentionally and voluntarily waive his right to rely on any prior representations by the Plautzes is fatal to his fraud claim.

(Slip. Op. at 5)

III. ARGUMENT

Discretionary review is allowed only under the limited

circumstances described in RAP 13.4(b), which provides:

(b) **Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review.** A petition for review will be accepted . . . only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Plaintiff seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4). The Petition for Review should be denied because petitioner has not and cannot demonstrate that this case satisfies any of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

A. DIVISION I'S OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH OTHER WASHINGTON APPELLATE DECISIONS.

Plaintiff's petition appears to be based on misapprehensions of the facts and of the basis for the Court of Appeals decision. These two misapprehensions are fatal to his position that the decision conflicts with other appellate decisions as required by RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

First, plaintiff asserts that the Inspection Addendum to Purchase and Sale Agreement was executed after the Purchase and Sale Agreement, and that it was not part of the "underlying contract." (Petition at 6) This is not true. The addendum was initialed contemporaneously with execution of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, and expressly provided that it was "part of the Purchase and Sale Agreement dated May 17, 2018." CP 166, 191. The Court of Appeals noted this in its decision. (Slip op. at 6)

Second, plaintiff repeatedly asserts that the decision of the Court of Appeals was based on plaintiff's waiver of the right to inspect, even asserting that under this decision "if a buyer waives inspection, the buyer is also waiving any claims of fraud against the seller for any intentional misrepresentations on Form 17." (Petition at 20) This also is not true. The Court of Appeals based its decision on plaintiff's agreement that he had not relied on representations by the seller, and that the Purchase and Sale Agreement and addendum superseded all prior representations. "Apgood's decision to intentionally and voluntarily waive his right to rely on any prior representations by the Plautzes is fatal to his fraud claim." (Slip op. at 5)

"The doctrine of waiver ordinarily applies to all rights or privileges to which a person is legally entitled."" *In re Estate of Petelle*, 195 Wn.2d 661, 669, 462 P.3d 848 (2020). This includes statutory rights. *Id.* at 668-69. The nine elements of fraud include the plaintiff's right to rely on the allegedly fraudulent misrepresentation. *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 690, 153 P.3d 864 (2007). Since plaintiff waived the right to rely on representations by the Plautzes, he cannot establish this element. His fraud claim fails.

1. Weitzman v. Bergstrom.

The Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with *Weitzman v. Bergstrom*, 75 Wn.2d 693, 697, 453 P.2d 860 (1969). *Weitzman* considered the general rule:

When a party claiming to have been defrauded, after discovery of the fraud receives from the party guilty of fraud some substantial concession or enters into new arrangements or engagements concerning the subject matter of the contract claimed to have been procured by fraud, he is deemed to have waived any claim for rescission, and under certain circumstances for damages.

Weitzman, 75 Wn.2d at 697.

The Court did not hold fraud could not be waived as plaintiff asserts. To the contrary, the Court stated: "The general rule that the entering into a new agreement regarding the subject matter evidences an intention to waive a claim of fraud is sound." *Id.* at 699. The Court further stated that to prove waiver of fraud, it is "necessary to show that the party who it is claimed has waived a right, did so intentionally and with full knowledge of his right." *Id.* However, the Court held the trial court's finding of no intent to waive was supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 701.

In contrast, here plaintiff expressly waived the right to rely on any representations. This case is not inconsistent with *Weitzman*.

2. Stieneke v. Russi.

The Court of Appeals' decision is not inconsistent with Division II's decision in *Stieneke v. Russi*, 145 Wn. App. 544, 190 P.3d 60 (2008), *rev. denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1026 (2009). In *Stieneke*, the Purchase and Sale Agreement did not have an inspection waiver addendum like the one at issue here, which provides "the decision to waive Buyer's inspection options was based on Buyer's personal inspection and Buyer has not relied on representations by Seller, Listing Broker or Selling Broker." CP 192. More importantly, in *Stieneke*, Division II did not address a waiver argument.

B. PLAINTIFF FAILS TO SHOW THAT THE PETITION INVOLVES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Plaintiff relies upon RAP 13.4(b)(4). However, he has failed to meet his burden to show that the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

This case concerns a waiver in a Purchase and Sale Agreement between two private parties arising from contract language specific to the subject agreement. Specifically, plaintiff waived the right to rely on representations by the sellers.

Waiver is intentional relinquishment of a known right. *Panorama Residential Protective Ass'n v. Panorama Corp. of Wash.*, 97 Wn.2d 23, 28, 640 P.2d 1057 (1982). To avoid waiver, a buyer can simply choose not to waive the right. Buyers can decline to agree to language providing that they have not relied on representations by sellers. Plaintiff chose to waive this right in the context of a hot housing market where "[h]ouses were selling quickly, and frequently sold before he could physically travel to Washington." CP 96. He accepted the risk that he might find damage or defects in the property in order to ensure he was the successful buyer. He cannot avoid his economic calculation after the fact, when it was necessary to achieve his goal to beat his competition in the marketplace and purchase the house.

Plaintiff asserts that "[f]or the first time ever," the Court of Appeals determined that the doctrine of waiver bars a fraud claim. (Petition at 22-23) This is simply not true. *See, e.g., Owen v. Matz*, 68 Wn.2d 374, 413 P.2d 368 (1966).

Plaintiff asserts dire consequences from allowing inspection waivers to bar fraud claims. That is not Division I's holding. Here, plaintiff expressly waived the right to rely on representations by the sellers. Without a right to rely, there is no fraud. In issuing the opinion in this case as an unpublished opinion, Division I determined that its decision has no precedential value. RCW 2.06.040; *see also State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 669, 491 P.2d 262 (1971), *rev. denied*, 80 Wn.2d 1003 (1972) (legislature recognized that opinion without sufficient precedential value affecting common law should not be published). *See also State v. Sanchez*, 74 Wn. App. 763, 765, 875 P.2d 712 (1994) (unpublished status means decision has no precedential value), *rev. denied*, 125 Wn.2d 1022 (1995). The Petition should be denied.

C. ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES SHOULD BE AWARDED UNDER RAP 18.1(j).

The trial court awarded attorney fees to respondents based on the provision of Paragraph p. of the Purchase and Sale Agreement for the recovery of reasonable attorney fees and costs to the prevailing party in any suit concerning the transaction. CP 280-81, 297.

The Court of Appeals awarded respondents attorney fees and costs on appeal. (Slip op. at 9) This Court should award respondents reasonable attorney fees and expenses for having to respond to the petition pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).

As discussed above, there is no conflict between the panel's decision and other appellate decisions, and there is no issue of substantial public interest requiring this Court's review.

IV. CONCLUSION

This case has not met any of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). The petition should be denied.